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General information about the academic discipline
	Name of the academic course 
	Corporate governance

	Code and name of the speciality
	D3 ‘Management’

	Level of higher education
	Second (Master's) Level of Higher Education

	Status of the discipline
	Optional

	Number of credits and hours
	3 credits / 90 hours

Lectures: 

Seminar classes: 

Independent work of students:

	Terms of study of the discipline
	

	Language of instruction
	Ukrainian

	Type of final assessment
	Credit

	Page of the discipline on the website
	


General information about the lecturer. Contact information.
	Chervinska Tetyana Mykhailivna

	Academic degree
	Candidate of Economic Sciences

	Academic title
	Associate Professor

	Position
	Head of the Department of Economics and Business

	Subjects taught by NPP
	«Fundamentals of corporate governance», «Fundamentals of investment activity», «Leadership and conflict management», «Fundamentals of intellectual activity»

	Areas of scientific research
	Innovation, investment, sustainable development, social responsibility, digital transformation

	Links to registers of identifiers for scientists
	orcid.org/: 0000-0001-7657-2855 

	Contact information of the lecturer:

	E-mail:
	Chervinska81@gmail.com

	Contact phone number
	 096 649 36 30

	Lecturer's portfolio on the website of the department / Institute / Academy
	


Course abstract. «Corporate governance» is a discipline of the selective component of the curriculum. As a selective component, the study of the discipline will allow the student of higher education to form an individual educational trajectory.

Students obtain theoretical knowledge of the history and practice of managing the system of governing bodies that manage the corporation and practical skills in choosing the right strategy for the development of the corporation, attracting investments on favorable terms, and forming a stable balance of shareholders' interests.

The discipline «Corporate governance» is aimed at forming students' complex of knowledge, practical skills and professional competences regarding the organization and functioning of enterprises of the corporate sector of the economy, participants in corporate relations and state bodies of corporate governance, rights and obligations of shareholders, features of financial management in the corporate governance system.

The knowledge and skills acquired by students in matters of corporate governance will allow them to independently analyze the corporate governance system and make optimal financial decisions in the process of managing corporations; prepare the charter and founding documents of the enterprise of the corporate sector of the economy; calculate the market value of securities and the amount of dividends; establish the value of the company's capital; analyze the financial statements of joint-stock or subsidiary companies and assess their financial condition and market value; conduct an assessment of the economic efficiency of corporate management at joint-stock companies. 

The subject of the academic discipline «Corporate governance» is the peculiarities of the corporate form of business organization, in particular the principles and models of corporate governance, national and global regulatory and legal regulation of the corporate sector, principles of organization, functioning and management of corporations, rights and obligations of shareholders, composition of corporate governance bodies, corporate securities, management of capital formation of an active and newly created corporation, corporate ethics, corporate control and corporate social responsibility. 

The purpose of studying the discipline «Corporate governance» is the formation of a system of scientific views on the organization and functioning of enterprises in the corporate sector of the economy, as well as the acquisition of economic and legal competences in the field of corporate management, regulation of socio-economic relations between stakeholders, principals and managers.

Tasks of the academic discipline: assimilation of the basic principles of corporate management, which allows future specialists to make informed decisions regarding the management, organization, regulation and motivation of all participants in corporate relations; study of the laws of construction of corporate management bodies, which makes it possible to organize the work of management bodies of a joint-stock company, determine and distribute competencies between different governing bodies for effective interaction between them; awareness of the problem of the conflict of interests of officials of a joint-stock company and its principals and clarification on this basis of mechanisms for overcoming the opportunism of hired managers, disciplining them in the interests of the owner, as well as ways to minimize agency costs; understanding the socio-economic role of stakeholders in the corporation, which is the basis for harmonizing the socio-economic interests of the corporation's shareholders and groups of interested persons, and is also an effective way to counter abuses during the reorganization of joint-stock companies;  orientation in the main legislative and regulatory acts that regulate the activities of corporate enterprises in Ukraine and abroad; acquisition of skills in managing the financial activities of the corporation, formation and implementation of dividend policy; assimilation of the methodology of independent analysis of corporate relations with the aim of using the acquired knowledge in future professional activities 
Prerequisites of the academic discipline. The study of the academic discipline «Corporate management» is based on the knowledge and skills acquired by students at the bachelor's level, namely: «Economic theory», «Management», «Strategic innovative management», «Global business management».

Post-requests of the academic discipline. The knowledge and skills acquired by students in the process of studying the academic discipline «Corporate governance» contribute to the successful study by students of higher education of a number of other academic disciplines aimed at the formation of professional knowledge and skills: «Business project management», «Business organizational development management», «Anti-crisis management», «Business law», «Contract law», «Business contracts».

Content of the academic discipline (full-time education
	№
	Theme name
	Teaching methods /

Assessment methods

	CONTENT MODULE 1. Corporate governance system
	Teaching methods: verbal (educational lecture; conversation; educational discussion); 

inductive method; deductive method; 

analytical method; synthetic method; 

practical (working with economic models, statistics, graphs); 

Explanatory and illustrative; reproductive; 

problem presentation method; 

partially-search; 

Research; 

interactive methods (analysis of economic situations; discussions, debates; brainstorming; situational modeling; practice of modeling skills); 

case method (analysis of real economic situations, search for problems, proposal of solutions, construction of models); 

modeling of professional activity (building economic models, forecasting, scenario modeling).
Assessment methods: oral control (oral survey, evaluation of participation in discussions, other interactive learning methods); written control (control, independent works, analytical tasks, essays); 

test control (closed form tests: test alternative, test compliance, data and model analysis tasks); self-control and self-assessment method; 

assessment of case tasks; 

evaluation of project and laboratory works (simulation of economic processes, forecasting).

	Theme 1.
	Corporate governance as a factor in economic development
	

	Theme 2.
	Concepts and models of corporate governance
	

	Theme 3.
	Institutional principles of corporate governance
	

	Theme 4.
	Organizational elements of corporate governance
	

	Theme 5.
	Mechanisms of corporate governance
	

	CONTENT MODULE 2. Organization of management activities in corporations
	

	Theme 6.
	Corporation information system
	

	Theme 7. 
	Corporate social responsibility
	

	Theme 8.
	Mergers and acquisitions as a form of corporate governance
	

	Theme 9.
	Efficiency and quality of corporate governance
	

	Theme 10.
	 Corporate governance and investment process
	

	
	
	

	Modular test

	Form of assessment: credit


Technical equipment and/or software. In the educational process, classrooms, a library, a multimedia projector and a computer are used to conduct lecture and seminar classes with elements of the presentation. Studying certain topics and performing practical tasks requires access to information from the worldwide Internet, which is provided by a free Wi-Fi network.
Forms of control methods.

Control of the success of education seekers is divided into current and final (semester).

Current control is carried out during practical and seminar classes. Its purpose is systematic verification:

- understanding and assimilation of the theoretical foundations of economic processes;

- ability to apply knowledge to build models and analyze economic data;

- skills in diagnosis and forecasting of economic processes;

- use of specialized software for modeling and processing statistical data.

Forms of student participation in the educational process, which are subject to current control:

- speeches and presentations on the analysis of economic processes;

- oral reports on the analysis of economic cases;

- addendum, questions to who answers;

- systematic work in seminar classes and activity during discussions;

- participation in discussions, brainstorming, interactive forms of classes;

- analysis of economic data, statistical indicators, economic and mathematical models;

- written assignments (control papers, test papers, analytical and abstract papers);

- preparation of notes, theses, analytical notes;

- independent study of discipline topics and lecture materials.

Current control methods:

- oral control (survey, conversation, report, message);

- written control (control work, analytical report, abstract, performance of tasks for building models or processing statistics);

- combined control (oral and written combination to assess understanding and practical skills);

- presentation of independent work or case analysis;

- observation of activity and participation in practical classes;

- test control (closed and open tasks, analysis of graphs and models);

- work with problem situations (analytical cases, scenario modeling of economic processes).
Assessment system and requirements.

Table of points awarded to higher education students*

	Themes
	Ongoing knowledge assessment
	Final control
	

	
	
	Modular test
	Credit**
	Overall number of points

	
	Theme 1
	Theme 2
	Theme 3
	Theme 4
	Theme 5
	Theme 6
	Theme 7
	Theme 8
	Theme 9
	Theme 10
	20
	20*
	100

	Work during the seminar
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	
	
	

	Independent work
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	3
	
	
	


*The table contains information about the maximum points for each type of academic work of a higher education applicant.

When assessing the mastery of each topic for the current academic activity, applicants are given grades based on the approved assessment criteria for the relevant discipline.

The criteria for assessing the learning outcomes of students and the distribution of points they receive are regulated by the Regulations on the Assessment of Academic Achievement of Higher Education Students at PJSC ‘Higher Educational Institution ’MAUP".

Modular control is carried out in the last class of the module in written form, in the form of a test.

Criteria for assessing the modular test in the academic discipline ‘Consolidation of Financial Statements’:

When assessing the modular test, the volume and correctness of the tasks are taken into account:

- a grade of ‘excellent’ (A) is given for the correct completion of all tasks (or more than 90% of all tasks);

- a ‘good’ (B) grade is given for completing 80% of all tasks;

- a ‘good’ (C) grade is given for completing 70% of all tasks;

- a ‘satisfactory’ (D) grade is given for correctly completing 60% of the proposed tasks;

- A grade of ‘satisfactory’ (E) is given for the correct completion of more than 50% of the proposed tasks.

- A grade of ‘unsatisfactory’ (FX) is given for the completion of less than 50% of the tasks.

Failure to attend the module test results in 0 points.

The above grades are converted into rating points as follows: 

«А» - 18-20 points;

«В» - 16-17 points;

«С» - 14-15 points;

«D» - 12-13 points.

«E» - 10-11 points;

«FX» - less than 10 points.
The final semester assessment in the discipline ‘Consolidation of Financial Statements’ is a mandatory form of assessing the learning outcomes of students. It is conducted within the time frame specified in the curriculum and covers the scope of material specified in the course programme.

The final assessment is conducted in the form of a test. Applicants who have completed all the necessary work are admitted to the semester assessment.

The final grade is based on the applicant's learning outcomes during the semester. The applicant's grade consists of points accumulated from the results of the current assessment and incentive points.

Students who have completed all the necessary tasks and received a score of 60 points or higher receive a grade corresponding to the score received, without additional testing.

For students who have completed all the necessary tasks but received a grade below 60 points, as well as for those who wish to improve their score (result), the teacher conducts a final assessment in the form of a test during the last scheduled class of the discipline in the academic semester.

Assessment of additional (individual) types of educational activities. Assessment of additional (individual) types of educational activities. Additional (individual) types of educational activities include the participation of students in scientific conferences, scientific circles of students and problem groups, preparation of publications, participation in All-Ukrainian Olympiads and competitions and international competitions, etc., in addition to the tasks set by the relevant work programme of the academic discipline. 

By decision of the department, applicants who have participated in research work and performed certain types of additional (individual) types of educational activities may be awarded incentive (bonus) points for a specific educational component.

Assessment of independent work

The total number of points received by the student for completing independent work is one of the components of academic performance in the discipline. Independent work on each topic, in accordance with the course programme, is assessed on a scale of 0 to 3 points using standardised and generalised criteria for assessing knowledge.

Assessment scale for independent work (individual assignments) assessment criteria.
	Maximum possible grade for independent work (individual assignments)
	Level of implementation

	
	Excellent    
	Good    
	Satisfactory    
	Unsatisfactory

	3
	3
	2
	1
	0


Assessment forms include: ongoing assessment of practical work; ongoing assessment of knowledge acquisition based on oral answers, reports, presentations and other forms of participation during practical (seminar) classes; individual or group projects requiring the development of practical skills and competences (optional format); solving situational tasks; preparing summaries of independently studied topics; testing or written exams; preparing draft articles, conference abstracts and other publications; other forms that ensure comprehensive mastery of the curriculum and contribute to the gradual development of skills for effective independent professional (practical, scientific and theoretical) activity at a high level.

To assess the learning outcomes of higher education students during the semester, a 100-point, national and ECTS assessment scale is used

Final assessment scale: national and ECTS
	Total points for all types of educational activities
	ECTS
rating
	Assessment on a national scale

	
	
	for exams, course projects (assignments), practical training
	for credit

	90 – 100
	А
	excellent
	passed 



	82 – 89
	В
	good


	

	75 – 81
	С
	
	

	68 – 74
	D
	satisfactory


	

	60 – 67
	Е
	
	

	35 – 59
	FХ
	unsatisfactory with the possibility of retaking the exam
	Failed with the possibility of retaking the exam

	0 – 34
	F
	unsatisfactory with mandatory retaking of the course
	Failed with mandatory retaking of the course


Course policy. 

To successfully master the course «Corporate management», the student has to:

- regularly attend lectures and practical classes;

- systematically, systematically and actively work in lectures and practical classes;

- practice missed classes or unsatisfactory grades obtained in classes;

- to perform in full the tasks required to be prepared by the teacher, their proper quality;

- perform control and other independent work;

- adhere to the norms of academic behavior and ethics.

The course «Corporate governance» involves the assimilation and observance of the principles of ethics and academic integrity, in particular the focus on preventing plagiarism in any of its manifestations: all works, reports, essays, essays and presentations must be original and author's, not overburdened with quotes, which must be accompanied by references to primary sources.  Violations of academic integrity are considered: academic plagiarism, self-plagiarism, fabrication, falsification, write-off, deception, bribery, biased assessment.

Recommended sources of information.

Regulatory and legal support:

1. Economic Code of Ukraine dated January 16, 2003 N 436-IV, current edition dated March 31, 2023, basis – 2849-IX. 

2. Law of Ukraine «On joint-stock companies» dated July 27, 2022 № 2465-IX, current edition dated January 1, 2023, basis – 2792-IX. 

3. On the approval of the Standard № 1 «Corporate governance in professional participants of capital markets and organized commodity markets. Basic concepts and terms» dated February 28, 2022 by № 261/37597. 

4. Law of Ukraine «On the Antimonopoly Committee of Ukraine» dated November 26, 1993 N 3659-XII, current edition dated July 2, 2023, basis – 3141-IX. 

5. Law of Ukraine «On limited and additional liability companies» dated February 6, 2018 № 2275-VIII, current edition dated January 1, 2023, basis – 2465-IX. 

6. Law of Ukraine «On state regulation of the securities market in Ukraine» dated October 30, 1996 N 448/96-ВР, current edition dated January 1, 2023, basis - 2465-IX. 

7. Law of Ukraine «On capital markets and organized commodity markets» dated February 23, 2006 № 3480-IV, current edition dated July 29, 2023, basis - 3249-IX.
Basic literature:

1. Bayura D.O. Corporate governance: Education. manual – K.: LLC «Daily print», 2019. 320 p.

2. Corporate governance: a textbook /T. L. Mostenska [etc]. Kyiv: Karavela, 2018. 384 p. 

3. O. V. Kolyanko. Corporate management: education. manual. Lviv: Publishing House of the Lviv University of Trade and Economics, 2019. 343 p.

4. Balabanyts A.V., Gorbashevska M.O., Kislova L.A., Matsuka V.M. Corporate governance: a study guide. Mariupol: MSU, 2019. 234 p.

5. Shvets F.D. Corporate governance: Study guide Rivne: NUVHP, 2017. 320 p.

6. Kozenkov D.E., Anishchenko L.O., Kaut O.V., Dunaychuk S.M. Corporate governance: education. manual. Dnipropetrovsk: Dryant, 2018. 218 p.

7. Corporate management : education manual /L. IS. Dovgan, V. IN. Pastukhova, L. M. Savchuk. Kyiv: Condor, 2022. 180 p. 

8. Mark Anthony Camilleri Corporate Sustainability, Social Responsibility and Environmental Management. Springer International Publishing. 2017.195 p.

9. Mergent Inc Reference Book of Corporate Management Hardcover. Dun&Bradstreet`publishing. 2017. 234 p.

10. Thomas Conyngton A Manual of Corporate Management: Containing Forms, Directions and Information for the Use of Lawyers and Corporate Officials. Forgotten Books. 2018. 430 p.

11. International Finance Corporation. (2019). SME Governance Guidebook.

Additional literature:

1. Directory of socially responsible companies of Ukraine. K: K.I.S., 2017. 170 p.

2. EU Green Paper «Promotion of European principles of corporate social responsibility» (EU Green Paper «Promoting a European framework for Corporate Social Responsibility, 2001).

3. Corporate culture and etiquette: education. manual arrangement. AM. Zlenko. Pereyaslav-Khmelnytskyi: K.S.V., 2019. 324 p.

4. Zhivko Z.B., Svatyuk O. R., Kopytko M. I.; for general ed. Z.B. Zhivko. Corporate governance in the system of economic security: education. manual Lviv: LDUVS, 2018. – 456 p.

5. Yuri EO. Corporate finance: study guide, Chernivtsi: Chernivtsi National University named after. Yu. Fedkovycha, 2017. 438 p.

6. Chervinska T.M. Strategic management of enterprise potential on an innovative basis //Economy. Finance. Right. – K.: 2012. – № ½. – S. 3-7.

7. Chervinska T.M. Peculiarities of personnel development in the conditions of innovative changes //Social and labor relations: theory and practice. Collection.-science works - K.: KNEU, 2015. - №1 (9). - P. 135-142.

8. Chervinska T.M. Formation of organizational culture in the context of the use of innovations /Education, language and culture in the process of global transformations: Interuniversity round table, April 1, 2016, m. Kyiv: Collection of materials. – K.: Institute of Criminal Enforcement Service, 2016. – S. 113-118.

9. Lyubov Chervinska, Tetyana Chervinska, Iryna Kalina, Mykola Koval, Natalia Shulyar, Oleksandr Chernyshov. Social responsibility of business in wartime. Financial and credit activity: problems of theory and practice. Volume 6 (53), 2023. S. 406-416

10. Chervinska T.M. Peculiarities of the development of innovation and communication management. Management of the development of socio-economic systems: materials of the IX International Scientific and Practical Conf. (dedicated to the memory of Professor Hryhoriy Yevtiyovych Maznev), March 6-7, 2025. Part 2. Kharkiv: DBTU, 2025. S. 96-102.
Electronic resources:

1. Section "Legislation of Ukraine" on the official website of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: http://zakon.rada.gov.ua/  

2. Official web portal of executive authorities of Ukraine. URL: http://www.kmu.gov.ua  

3. Official portal of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: http://rada.gov.ua/  

4. Official website of the State Statistics Service of Ukraine. URL: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua  

5. Official website of the National Securities and Stock Market Commission. URL: http://www.ssmsc.gov.ua  

6. The official website of the scientific journal «Economy of Ukraine». URL: http://www.economukraine.com.ua/index.php  

7. The official website of the collection of scientific works «Economic theory and law». URL: http://econtlaw.nlu.edu.ua  

8. The official website of the scientific and theoretical journal «Economic theory». URL: http://etet.org.ua  

9. The official website of the Institute of Demography and Social Research named after M. IN. Birds of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine. URL: http://www.idss.org.ua
